

# Cathepsin C inhibition as a potential treatment strategy in cancer

Brice Korkmaz, Anne-Sophie Lamort, Roxane Domain, Celine Beauvillain, Artur Gieldon, Ali Önder Yildirim, Georgios Stathopoulos, Moez Rhimi, Dieter Jenne, Ralph Kettritz

## ▶ To cite this version:

Brice Korkmaz, Anne-Sophie Lamort, Roxane Domain, Celine Beauvillain, Artur Gieldon, et al.. Cathepsin C inhibition as a potential treatment strategy in cancer. Biochemical Pharmacology, 2021, 194, pp.114803. 10.1016/j.bcp.2021.114803. inserm-03547138

## HAL Id: inserm-03547138 https://inserm.hal.science/inserm-03547138

Submitted on 5 Jan 2024

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution - NonCommercial 4.0 International License

### REVIEW

## CATHEPSIN C INHIBITION AS A POTENTIAL TREATMENT STRATEGY IN CANCER

Brice Korkmaz<sup>1\*</sup>, Anne-Sophie Lamort<sup>2§</sup>, Roxane Domain<sup>1§</sup>, Céline Beauvillain<sup>3</sup>, Artur Gieldon<sup>4</sup>, Önder Yildirim<sup>2</sup>, Georgios T. Stathopoulos<sup>2</sup>, Moez Rhimi<sup>5</sup>, Dieter E. Jenne<sup>2,6</sup> and Ralph Kettritz<sup>7,8</sup>

<sup>1</sup>INSERM UMR-1100, "Research Center for Respiratory Diseases" and University of Tours, 37032, Tours, France

<sup>2</sup>Comprehensive Pneumology Center (CPC) and Institute for Lung Biology and Disease (iLBD), Helmholtz Center Munich-German Research Center for Environmental Health (HMGU) and Ludwig-Maximilian-University (LMU), Munich, Bavaria, 81377, Germany. A member of the German Center for Lung Research (DZL), Gießen, Hesse, 35392, Germany

<sup>3</sup>University of Angers, University of Nantes, Angers University Hospital, INSERM UMR-1232, CRCINA, Innate Immunity and Immunotherapy, SFR ICAT, F-49000 Angers, France

<sup>4</sup>Faculty of Chemistry, University of Gdansk, 80-308 Gdansk, Poland

<sup>5</sup>Microbiota Interaction with Human and Animal Team (MIHA), Micalis Institute, AgroParisTech, Université Paris-Saclay, INRAE, Jouy-en-Josas, France.

<sup>6</sup>Max Planck Institute of Neurobiology, 82152 Planegg-Martinsried, Germany

<sup>7</sup>Experimental and Clinical Research Center, Charité und Max-Delbrück-Centrum für Molekulare Medizin in der Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft (MDC), Berlin, Germany

<sup>8</sup>Nephrology and Intensive Care Medicine, Charité-Universitätsmedizin, Berlin, Germany

<sup>§</sup>Equal contribution

#### \*Corresponding author: Brice Korkmaz

INSERM UMR-1100 "Research Center for Respiratory Diseases",

University of Tours, Faculty of Medicine

10 Bld. Tonnellé, 37032, Tours, France

e-mail: brice.korkmaz@inserm.fr

Tel: 0033 2 47 36 63 86

#### Abstract

Epidemiological studies established an association between chronic inflammation and higher risk of cancer. Inhibition of proteolytic enzymes represents a potential treatment strategy for cancer and prevention of cancer metastasis. Cathepsin C (CatC) is a highly conserved lysosomal cysteine dipeptidyl aminopeptidase required for the activation of pro-inflammatory neutrophil serine proteases (NSPs, elastase, proteinase 3, cathepsin G and NSP-4). NSPs are locally released by activated neutrophils in response to pathogens and non-infectious danger signals. Activated neutrophils also release neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) that are decorated with several neutrophil proteins, including NSPs. NSPs are not only NETs constituents but also play a role in NET formation and release. Although immune cells harbor large amounts of CatC, additional cell sources for this protease exists. Upregulation of CatC expression was observed in different tissues during carcinogenesis and correlated with metastasis and poor patient survival. Recent mechanistic studies indicated an important interaction of tumor-associated CatC, NSPs, and NETs in cancer development and metastasis and suggested CatC as a therapeutic target in a several cancer types. Cancer cell-derived CatC promotes neutrophil recruitment in the inflammatory tumor microenvironment. Because the clinical consequences of genetic CatC deficiency in humans resulting in the elimination of NSPs are mild, small molecule inhibitors of CatC are assumed as safe drugs to reduce the NSP burden. Brensocatib, a nitrile CatC inhibitor is currently tested in a phase 3 clinical trial as a novel anti-inflammatory therapy for patients with bronchiectasis. However, recently developed CatC inhibitors possibly have protective effects beyond inflammation. In this review, we describe the pathophysiological function of CatC and discuss molecular mechanisms substantiating pharmacological CatC inhibition as a potential strategy for cancer treatment.

**Abbreviations:** BAL, broncho-alveolar lavage; Cat, cathepsin; IL, interleukin; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase; NE, neutrophil elastase; NETs, neutrophil extracellular traps; NSP, neutrophil serine protease; PDB, Protein Data Bank; PLS, Papillon-Lefèvre syndrome; PR3, proteinase 3.

### Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Neutrophil serine proteases in cancer
- 3. Neutrophil cathepsin C
- 4. Tumor cell-derived cathepsin C
- 5. Pharmacological inhibition of cathepsin C
- 6. Conclusion
- Acknowledgments
- Author contributions
- Conflict of interest
- Support statement

References

#### 1. Introduction

Cancer represents a global health problem and is ranked as the second most common cause of death by the World Health Organization. Among the different cancer types, lung cancer contributed worldwide to more than 2 million new cases in 2020 with an unfavorable survival rate [1, 2]. Substantial efforts have been made to better characterize lung cancer subtypes by the identification of key mutation patterns [3, 4] and deciphering molecular disease mechanisms [5] particularly with respect to metastases. Upon adhesion molecule loss, cancer cells from the primary tumor disseminate outside the original tissue where they can remain dormant and clinically undetectable for many years before they generate secondary tumors or metastases [6]. In addition to harboring primary tumors, the lungs are commonly affected by metastases originating from different primary cancer locations including kidney, stomach, pancreas, bladder, male and female genitourinary tract, breast, liver, head and neck [7]. Evolution and progression of several cancer types correlate with smoking, inflammation and tumor-associated immune cells [5, 8]. These immune cells are involved in both pro-tumorigenic and anti-tumorigenic roles. Among these immune cells, neutrophils present in the tumor microenvironment are referred to as tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs), which are further categorized as anti-tumoral and pro-tumoral. Mimicking the dichotomy of macrophages into M1 and M2, a nomenclature of N1 and N2 has been proposed to define anti- or pro-tumor neutrophils respectively. However, given the complexity of the activation and differentiation states of the TAN population that includes also granulocytic myeloid-derived suppressor cells (G-MDSCs), the population is best summarized as pro- and anti-tumor TANs [5, 9]. Antitumor neutrophils inhibit tumor cell proliferation and survival both directly and indirectly by recruiting additional immune cells. On the contrary, pro-tumoral neutrophils induce immunosuppression and promote tumor invasion, metastasis and angiogenesis through their release of various compounds such as MMP9, elastase, HMGB1, S100A8, S100A9 and BV8 [8, 10-13]. Smoking leading to chronic lung inflammation is also associated with higher risk of recurrence and death in breast cancer patients. Epidemiological studies revealed that the increased risk of cancer recurrence after a period of clinical remission may be linked to inflammation [14-16]. Neutrophil recruitment to the tumor site via chemokine interactions with their corresponding receptors leads to poor patient outcome [17, 18]. These myeloid cells then generate a microenvironment and biological niche that favors cancer progression. Yet, the exact chemokine network and the pathways sustaining recruitment of these cells to the tumor remains largely unknown [19]. Among recruited immune cells, neutrophils were identified as critical actors in experimental models for cancer cell awakening [8] as well as cancer-associated thrombosis [20]. The latter causes significant morbidity and mortality in cancer patients. Activated neutrophils release neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) that are decorated with several neutrophil proteins, including neutrophil serine proteases (NSPs) maturated by cathepsin C (CatC, (EC 3.4.14.1)) [21] (**Figure 1**) and tissue factor [22]. Consequently, NET formation by blood neutrophils exerts procoagulant and prothrombin effects suggesting that NETs may provide a therapeutic target to inhibit cancer-related thrombosis. Enhanced susceptibility of neutrophils to form NETs is observed in several preclinical cancer models suggesting systemic and local cancer effects, which stimulate neutrophils to release NETs that in turn promote the inflammatory and prothrombotic environment. These observations suggest a pivotal role for neutrophils in cancer biology. Proteases released from activated or dying neutrophils provide candidates promoting both primary tumors and metastasis.

Cancer development and metastasis rely on increased expression and proteolytic activity of several proteases. Cathepsin D, an aspartyl protease, was shown to promote breast cancer metastasis [23]. Cysteine proteases are additional actors in the metastatic process [24, 25]. For example, cathepsin B expression is increased in a variety of human tumors and is involved in tumor invasion and metastasis, potentially by degrading basement membranes and extracellular matrix. Moreover, recent data implicating NSPs and their maturating cysteine protease CatC (**Figure 1**) in cancer development raised a new interest in exploring these proteases both as disease mediators and pharmacological targets. In addition, plasminogen and metalloprotease family members are of importance because of their ability to degrade basement membrane and extracellular matrix components [26-29]. Inhibition of MMPs (matrix metalloproteases) in cancer tissue resulted in reduced tumor invasion, angiogenesis and migration [24, 25]. These experimental data that clearly established the importance of proteases in cancer, together with the fact that existing protease inhibitors, mainly metalloprotease inhibitors, failed in previous clinical studies [30], underscore the

need for new, more effective protease inhibitors suitable for preclinical and clinical exploration. Additional research aspects include inhibitor specificity and determination of the optimal disease stage for inhibitor administration.

We next focus on NSPs and CatC, and their mechanistic involvement in cancer biology and discuss the potential of pharmacological CatC inhibition for cancer treatment.

#### 2. Neutrophil serine proteases in cancer

The neutrophil serine protease family includes neutrophil elastase (NE, EC 3.4.21.37), proteinase 3 (PR3, EC 3.4.21.76), cathepsin G (CatG, EC 3.4.21.20) [31, 32], and recently discovered neutrophil serine protease-4 (NSP-4) [33, 34]. NSPs belong to the chymotrypsin family and are synthetized as inactive precursors in promyelocytes containing an N-terminal prodipeptide to avoid unwanted protein degradation in the endoplasmic reticulum or Golgi apparatus (**Figure 1**). N-terminal propeptides are removed in post-Golgi organelles by CatC. The X-ray three-dimensional structures of mature NSPs have the two six-stranded  $\beta$ -barrel domains typical of chymotrypsin-like serine proteases. The active-site residues are located in a crevice between the two  $\beta$ -barrels [31, 35] (**Figure 2**).

Activated neutrophils release NSPs either as soluble molecules or attached to extracellular traps (NETs). NETs are involved in killing of invading microorganisms [21] but also in thrombosis [36, 37] and tissue injury in autoimmune vasculitis [38]. NE not only decorates NETs but is also essential for NETs formation by promoting nuclear chromatin decondensation [39, 40]. The proteolytic activities of NSPs are mainly regulated by serpin (serine protease inhibitors) and chelonianin families [31, 32]. NSPs participate in intracellular and extracellular pathogen killing, but also shape the inflammatory response [41, 42] by cleavage of extracellular matrix proteins and processing of inflammatory mediators as shown in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases [31, 43-45]. Additionally, activated neutrophils transfer proteolytically active NSPs to neighboring cells, as sown for endothelial cells, resulting in cleavage of intracellular substrates and subsequently

endothelial cell injury [46]. Thus, neutrophils create an microenvironment that, at least in part, depends on NSPs and NETs.

Recent data suggest that the neutrophil-associated inflammatory microenvironment, including NSPs and NETs, is not only involved in inflammatory diseases but also in cancer [5]. Extracellular proteolytically active NSPs were detected in several cancer types and correlate with poor prognosis. Zoidakis et al. identified PR3 as an antigenic marker of bladder cancer by urinary proteome analysis [47]. PR3 was frequently elevated in the urine of bladder cancer patients but not detected in the urine of healthy controls. Guarino et al. showed that urinary PR3 is proteolytically active and originates from cancer-associated neutrophils as NE and myeloperoxidase (MPO), additional markers of neutrophil activation, were also present in the urine of patients with bladder cancer [48]. Urine samples from patients with a bladder cancer were concentrated, and both PR3 protein as well as proteolytic PR3 activity was monitored using a selective PR3-FRET substrate. Active PR3 concentration was detected in the cancer patient samples and estimated to be 0.1-1 nM based on the rate of substrate hydrolysis (Figure 3). NE is detected in broncho-alveolar lavage (BAL) fluids from patients with lung cancer [49]. Furthermore, the amount of NE and MPO in the BAL fluid was significantly higher in patients with lung cancer compared to COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) patients. Recently, Lerman and Hammes reviewed the current evidence for NE involvement in primary tumor growth and secondary organ metastasis [50]. As highlighted in several studies, pharmacological inhibition or gene-deletion of NE reduced cancer progression in *in vivo* mouse models [11, 50]. Furthermore, the cleavage pattern of peptides found in cancer tissue revealed a strong preference for small hydrophobic residues at P1 residues, making NE the most likely candidate involved in the observed cancer-specific proteolytic processing [51]. Albrengues et al. showed that sustained experimental lung inflammation induced by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) administration or tobacco smoke exposure promotes NET-formation and that these NETs in turn awaken dormant malignant mammary cancer cells [8]. Mechanistic analysis in murine models revealed that inflammation-activated neutrophils drive cancer cell awakening by laminin processing via NETassociated NE and MMP-9 [8]. The neo epitopes generated upon proteolytic laminin cleavage induced transformation of the previously dormant cancer cells into aggressively growing metastases by activating integrin signaling. Furthermore, Teijeira *et al.* showed that NETs secreted by inflammationactivated neutrophils surrounded cancer cells and blocked the cytotoxic anti-cancer effects of immune cells, which impaired tumor clearance [52, 53]. Inhibition of NE reduced the extension of cancer cellinduced NETs and NETs-mediated cancer cell invasion. Thus, NE and NETs promote pro-tumorigenic actions of neutrophils and are therefore considered as therapeutic targets for multiple cancer types [8, 50].

In addition to their validated functional roles in tumor biology discussed above, it appears that CTSC, ELANE, PRTN3, CTSG, and PRSS57 genes are frequently co-mutated in a significant proportion (6.1%) of human cancers from the cancer genome atlas (TCGA) pan-cancer dataset [54, 55]. Most changes were copy number alterations, either deletions or amplifications (Figure 4). Interestingly, NSP gene-alterations are enriched in some tumor types, like ovarian carcinomas, sarcomas, melanomas, and esophageal carcinomas that feature alteration frequencies of more than 10%. A number of additional cancers, like endometrial, bladder, cervical, and lung carcinomas show alterations in 5-10% of the cases, whereas other cancers, like mesothelioma, thyroid, renal, and pancreatic carcinomas have virtually none of these abnormalities (Figure 5). In addition to copy number alterations, single nucleotide variants (SNPs) are seen in all five genes (CTSC, ELANE, *PRTN3*, *CTSG*, and *PRSS57*), which do not feature mutational hotspots (Figure 6). Interestingly, patients with NSP-alterations were of a younger age at diagnosis, had higher indices of genomic alteration, aneuploidy, and hypermutation, as well as elevated hypoxia scores compared to patients without such changes (not shown). These findings suggest that cancers with NSP mutations represent a subclass of particularly aggressive tumors. This conclusion is also supported by clinical observations, since NSP-altered TCGA pan-cancer patients display higher relapse rates, higher tumor grade, and decreased progression-free survival. Moreover, specifically CTSC and PRTN3-altered patients also exhibit decreased overall survival (Figure 7). While all the above observations need to be confirmed in additional cohorts, and while the variable distribution of NSP alterations across human cancer types may confound these results, a number of future research questions arise. For example, do the observed NSP gene mutations occur in tumor or stromal cells? The first possibility of NSP gene mutations occurring in cancer cells calls for studies exploring intracellular (cell-autonomous) versus paracrine NSP effects on tumor biology. No such studies have been reported so far. The second, more unlikely but not yet excluded possibility for NSP gene mutations in tumor-infiltrating stromal cells also warrants further investigation. Conceivably, neutrophils with abundant transcription of NSP genes also acquire mutations in these genes similar to what has been discovered for epithelial tissues [56]. Together, these clinical and experimental data establish mechanistic NSP implications in a variety of cancers and suggest that reducing NSPs has beneficial anti-tumor effects.

#### 3. Neutrophil cathepsin C

CatC, also known as dipeptidyl peptidase 1 (DPP1, EC 3.4.14.1), is a ubiquitously expressed (**Figure 8**) lysosomal aminopeptidase belonging to the C1 family of papain-like cysteine peptidases [57]. CatC catalyzes the removal of dipeptides from the N-terminal end of peptides and proteins. CatC is highly, but not exclusively, expressed in immune cells and has a role in shaping innate immune responses. The best-characterized physiological function of CatC is the activation of immune cell-associated serine proteases, including NSPs [58, 59], mast cell chymase [60] and lymphocyte granzymes [61, 62]. CatC is a unique member of the cysteine cathepsins that functions as a tetrameric protease [57].

CatC is initially synthetized as a single chain ~60-kDa monomer (**Figure 8C**) that spontaneously associates to form proteolytically inactive proCatC homodimers [63] (**Figure 9**). The sequence of proCatC (residues: 1-439) is partitioned into three instead of two domains, namely a ~16kDa N-terminal exclusion domain (1-119), a ~11-kDa internal propeptide (120-206), and a ~30-kDa C-terminal catalytic domain (207-439) with a papain-like structure. The proteolytically active homotetrameric CatC is generated by the proteolytic removal of its propeptide segment and the processing of the catalytic domain into a heavy (207-370) and light chain (371-439) [57]. Cathepsin-like proteases are identified as proCatC processing and activating proteases *in vitro* [63, 64]. The propeptide of proCatC is involved in the formation of a stable dimer and in two consecutive steps of the proCatC maturation process. The removal of the propeptides occurs during the first step. The processing of the catalytic domain generating heavy and light chains during the second step is essential for the final homo-tetrameric active conformation [64]. Molecular modeling analysis suggests that the tetrameric structure of CatC stabilizes the exclusion domain in the correct position conferring CatC its aminopeptidase activity [64]. The carboxylic group of the Asp1 side chain of CatC activation domain sequences, is responsible for the anchoring of the N-terminal amino group of CatC substrates [65] (**Figure 10**).

Mature CatC converts proNSPs into their proteolytically active forms during neutrophil differentiation in the bone marrow [58, 59]. After liberation of their N-terminal propeptides by CatC, NSPs undergo an important conformational change and adopt a stable mature conformation [41]. Once matured, CatC and active NSPs are stored together in cytoplasmic granules [66]. Activated neutrophils secrete mature CatC into the extracellular milieu together with other granule-associated proteases. In patients with neutrophilic lung inflammation, mature CatC is found in sputa from cystic fibrosis and asthma patients [66], in tracheal aspirates from mechanically ventilated patients with pneumonia [67], and in the BAL fluid from patients with non-small lung cancer, even when containing only low neutrophil numbers [66]. Because proCatC but not mature CatC, is constitutively secreted by bronchial epithelial cells present in lung secretions from healthy individuals, mature CatC is considered as a biomarker of active pulmonary neutrophilic inflammation [66]. However, the functional role of extracellular CatC originating from neutrophils at the inflammatory sites remains unknown.

Loss of function mutations in the CatC gene *CTSC* cause PLS characterized by severe prepubertal periodontitis and palmoplantar keratoderma without marked immunodeficiency [68, 69]. PLS white blood cell lysates from a cohort of 24 patients with established missense, frameshift or nonsense *CTSC* mutations did not contain CatC activity or immunoreactive CatC protein [70]. The missense mutation Leu172Pro within the propeptide segment altered the proCatC stability as well as the *in vitro* maturation of the recombinant zymogen [64]. Mutated CatC with missense mutations is suspected to be degraded during neutrophil differentiation [70, 71]. The lack of CatC activity reduces both the activity and the amount of NSPs in neutrophils from PLS patients [34, 59, 70]. Using a highly sensitive and selective PR3 substrate, PR3 activity in a cohort of 20 PLS patients amounted to only 1% to 4% compared to those of healthy controls [70] indicating that CatC is the major but not unique proNSPs maturating protease. Furthermore, proteomic analysis of azurophil granule proteins in healthy versus PLS patient samples showed that approximately 15 proteins were differentially expressed [71]. Importantly, two different teams showed that PLS neutrophils are incapable of forming NETs due to lack of NE activity [71, 72].

These data establish the importance of neutrophil CatC for NSP maturation and suggest that NSPs abrogation does not cause severe infections.

#### 4. Tumor cell-derived cathepsin C

Although neutrophils and other immune cells harbor large amounts of CatC, additional sources for this protease exist. Upregulation of CatC expression was observed in different tissues during carcinogenesis. Ruffell *et al.* investigated the function of CatC in breast cancer and squamous cell carcinoma in mice and found increased CatC protein and proteolytic activity in both types of these tumor tissues compared to healthy control tissues [73]. Results from  $Ctsc^{-/+}$  and  $Ctsc^{-/-}$  mice revealed a tissue-specific role of CatC in squamous cell but not breast cancer development. Moreover, immune cell and fibroblast CatC was reported to be critical for promoting angiogenesis and tumor growth [73]. Zhang *et al.* investigated the differential expression of CatC in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) and normal liver tissues by bioinformatic tools and tissue microarrays [74]. CatC was upregulated in HCC patients and correlated with poor prognosis. Using gain/loss-of-function assays, the authors identified CatC as an oncogenic protein that promoted the proliferation and metastasis of HCC cancer cells. Mechanistically, overexpression of CatC activated the TNF- $\alpha$ /p38 MAPK pathway that assisted HCC growth and metastasis. The tumor-promoting role of CatC was also shown for renal carcinoma cells by Chiang *et al.* [75]. Kim *et al.* [76] and Pal Khalet *et al.* [77] reported the role of CatC in the regulation of autophagy-mediated cancer cell proliferation.

Recently, Xiao *et al.* highlight the potential of tumor cell-secreted mature CatC to promote lung metastasis of breast cancer cells [78]. The authors first identified proteins that were regulated in human breast cancers and murine breast cancer cell lines with lung metastatic capacities. CatC was

amongst the highest regulated proteins and its expression and secretion were elevated in lung metastases of breast cancer. Moreover, high CatC expression in primary tumors was negatively correlated with patients' overall survival. Hence, tumor-derived CatC provides a prognostic survival marker. In addition, in experimental murine breast cancer models, a strong correlation was observed between CatC expression and infiltrating neutrophils that deposited NETs in both primary tumors and lung metastasis. The authors reported the dual function of tumor-secreted mature CatC in neutrophil recruitment to metastatic niches and NETosis induction. To elucidate how mature CatC affects neutrophil functions, Xiao et al. explored the possibility that neutrophil membrane-bound NSP zymogens were proteolytically activated by tumor cell-derived CatC. They suggest that indeed a conversion of membrane-bound PR3 (PR3<sup>mb</sup>) from the zymogen into the mature form by tumor derived CatC activity occurs, and that this effect provides a mechanistic link to neutrophil infiltration and NET formation. The authors proposed that the PR3<sup>mb</sup> zymogen, predominantly detected as a 34kDa molecule that is distinct from the 27-kDa mature granule-stored form, was the result of differential post-translational modifications. The authors argue that the tumor CatC-mediated activation of PR3<sup>mb</sup> resulted in IL-1β processing and NFκb activation in the neutrophils. In the proposed scheme, this activation leads to the secretion of IL-6 and CCL3 further enhancing neutrophil recruitment to metastatic niches. The CatC-PR3-IL-1ß axis was also suggested to contribute to p38 activation and ROS (reactive oxygen species) production resulting in NET formation that in turn support metastatic growth of tumor cells. In a final pursuit to confirm that proteolytic PR3 activity is essential for neutrophil IL-1ß production, recombinant active human PR3 was added to conditioned medium from CTSC-silenced cancer cells supplemented with fetal bovine or horse serum. The authors observed that active PR3 indeed restored IL-1ß generation even in the absence of tumor cell-derived CatC.

The data obtained by Xiao *et al.* identified CatC as a potentially important actor in breast cancer. However, a note of caution is warranted with respect to the proposed molecular mechanisms in neutrophils. The authors suggest that the main action of tumor-secreted mature CatC on local and systemic neutrophil functions is caused by the small pool of inactive pro-PR3 on the neutrophil

surface that is activated by CatC. In our view, this mechanistic concept is highly speculative and needs further critical evaluation. For example, using mice with myeloid cells deficient in PR3 as tumor recipients would reveal additional information. PR3-deficient neutrophils are expected to show significantly less IL-1 $\beta$  generation in response to tumor cell-derived CatC thereby strengthening the specific role of PR3 in this process. Additional concerns pertain to the suggested role of proPR3 on the neutrophil surface. We agree with the authors that most PR3<sup>mb</sup> on quiescent human neutrophils is proteolytically inactive. In fact, we and others suspected previously that constitutively expressed PR3<sup>mb</sup> on quiescent human neutrophils could be the zymogen form of PR3 [79, 80] and, in addition, PR3 becomes inactivated by binding to the neutrophil-specific CD177 membrane receptor [81]. In contrast, large amounts of active PR3 are translocated from the intracellular granules to the cell membrane during neutrophil activation. Unlike constitutive PR3<sup>mb</sup>, induced PR3<sup>mb</sup> exposed on activated neutrophils is proteolytically active [79, 80]. However, we are concerned firstly, about the high molecular weight of murine PR3<sup>mb</sup> observed by Xiao et al. Granule-associated PR3 and PR3<sup>mb</sup> have similar molecular weights and no major post-translational differences despite their different destinations after sorting and targeting of PR3 to either the outer leaflet of cellular membranes or to granules. Secondly, only a very small fraction of the total neutrophil PR3 pool is exposed and accessible on the cell surface of human neutrophils [70]. Activation of such a small amount of PR3<sup>mb</sup> by tumor-derived CatC leading to the observed tumor-associated activities in vivo is implausible. Importantly, almost no PR3<sup>mb</sup> is exposed on the surface of murine neutrophils because the hydrophobic patch of human PR3 that mediates membrane association is not conserved in murine PR3 [82, 83]. Thirdly, in our hands, it is not easy to activate pro-PR3 and related pro-NSPs by CatC, even under controlled laboratory conditions in solution. High concentrations of the substrates (at least 0.3 mg/ml) and optimal acidic conditions are required (personal observation by D.E. Jenne). It is unlikely that such conditions exist in the tumor environment. Moreover, it is very difficult to distinguish mouse PR3 from mouse NE at low concentrations using activity measurements, as mouse PR3 is more similar to mouse NE than human PR3 is to human NE [31, 41]. In fact, the PR3 substrate used in the Xiao et al. study was designed to be specific for human PR3 and it is not cleaved by mouse PR3 [84, 85]. A better approach would be to employ catalytically active and inactive murine PR3 and murine pro-PR3 as a control. Finally, recombinant active PR3 was added to cell cultures containing fetal bovine or horse serum rich in the main physiological PR3 inhibitor alpha-1 antitrypsin, and exogenous active *human* PR3 was administered intravenously. In both circumstances, the presence of high alpha-1 antitrypsin concentrations rapidly inhibits the proteolytic PR3 activity and we cannot see how it possibly can exert its functions in the neutrophil. Thus, we believe that tumor-derived CatC within the inflammatory tumor microenvironment employs other molecules than PR3<sup>mb</sup> to activate neutrophils that in turn promote lung metastasis.

Together these data support the notion that tumor-derived CatC promotes growth and metastasis of several cancer types and that CatC inhibition has beneficial anti-tumor effects.

#### 5. Pharmacological inhibition of cathepsin C

CatC is increasingly recognized as a pharmacological target for blocking NSP activity and NETosis in neutrophil-driven inflammatory and autoimmune diseases [31, 44]. The observation that CatC knock-out mice were protected in NSPs-driven experimental inflammation models supports the therapeutic strategy of CatC inhibition in these diseases [43, 44, 58]. Because of the discussed role of CatC, NE, and NETs in cancer, pharmacological CatC inhibition can also be envisioned as a therapeutic strategy to prevent primary tumor growth and metastasis [86]. While several CatC inhibitors have been discovered and tested in preclinical models (including  $IcatC_{XPZ-01}$ , BI-9740 (Jerke *et al., in preparation*), EGFR-derived inhibitor [87], non-peptidyl non-covalent CatC inhibitor [88], GSK-2793660 [89] and brensocatib [90] have advanced the furthest in clinical development.

Two dipeptidyl nitrile inhibitors  $\text{IcatC}_{XPZ-01}$  ((*S*)-2-amino-*N*-((1*R*,2*R*)-1-cyano-2-(4'-(4methylpiperazin-1-ylsulfonyl)biphenyl-4-yl)cyclopropyl)butanamide),  $\text{IC}_{50}$ .CatC = 15 nM) [91] and brensocatib (formerly INS1007/AZD7986, (S)-N-((S)-1-Cyano-2-(4-(3-methyl-2-oxo-2,3dihydrobenzo-[d]oxazol-5-yl)phenyl)ethyl)-1,4-oxazepane-2-carboxamide,  $\text{IC}_{50}$ .CatC = 22 nM) [92] were recently shown to effectively block the maturation of NSP zymogens *in vitro* and *in vivo* (**Figure 10**). Nitrile compounds are the best investigated group of CatC inhibitors [44]. The nitrile group of these compounds reacts with the active Cys234 site resulting in the reversible formation of a thioimidate adduct (**Figure 11**). In rodents,  $IcatC_{XPZ-01}$  [91] and brensocatib [92] reached sufficient levels in the bone marrow to inhibit CatC and downstream NSPs activation. In a murine model of rheumatoid arthritis, prolonged administration of  $IcatC_{XPZ-01}$  resulted in sustained anti-arthritic activity [91].  $IcatC_{XPZ-01}$  was also evaluated in an orthotopic mouse lung transplantation (LTx) model after 18 h cold storage of the graft [93]. Recipient mice treated with  $IcatC_{XPZ-01}$  prior to LTx showed improved early graft function. Furthermore, prolonged administration of  $IcatC_{XPZ-01}$  in *Macaca fascicularis* resulted in almost complete elimination of NSPs in white blood cells confirming that a reduction in NSPs, comparable to that seen in PLS patients, is possible using pharmacological CatC inhibitors [94] (**Figure 11**). Zymogen conformations of NSPs are susceptible to proteolysis leading to their proteolytic degradation within intracellular granules at very early stages of neutrophil maturation [70, 94]. Xiao *et al.* showed that systemic administration of brensocatib effectively inhibited breast cancer lung metastasis in their mouse model, preserved body weight, and enhanced overall animal survival time [78]. This effect is encouraging, even though the underlying molecular mechanisms need to be better characterized.

Brensocatib was the first nitrile CatC inhibitor that was assessed in clinical trials [92]. The safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics/pharmacodynamics of single and multiple oral doses were evaluated in a randomized, placebo-controlled, phase 1 study started in 2014. Daily doses of 10, 25 and 40 mg brensocatib in 81 healthy subjects treated for 28 days resulted in significant reduction of neutrophil NE activity without serious side effects [95]. Safety, efficacy and pharmacokinetics of brensocatib were then evaluated in the WILLOW phase 2 study, an international, randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled trial [96]. 256 adults with non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis, a chronic inflammatory lung disease defined as a permanent dilatation of the bronchi [97], were treated once daily for 24 weeks with 10 mg or 25 mg brensocatib or placebo. Brensocatib reduced the primary endpoint, namely the time to first pulmonary exacerbation, and a key secondary study endpoint, namely the rate of pulmonary exacerbations, and significantly reduced sputum NE by approximately ~85% [96]. The efficacy, safety, and tolerability of brensocatib is currently being evaluated in a global, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial termed ASPEN (NCT number: NCT04594369). Patients with non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis were randomized to receive

brensocatib 10 mg, 25 mg, or placebo once daily for 52 weeks. Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), a severe outcome of COVID-19 is also associated with neutrophilic inflammation. Elimination of NSPs may reduce lung injury and thereby prevent the irreversible pulmonary failure in COVID-19 patients [67, 98]. To explore this effect further, brensocatib is currently being evaluated in the STOP-COVID19 (Superiority Trial of Protease inhibition in COVID-19, EudraCT Number: 2020-001643-13) trial in 300 hospitalized patients with COVID-19 pneumonia [98].

#### 6. Conclusion

The best-characterized function of CatC is the activation of immune cell-associated serine proteinases. However, additional CatC roles, particularly in non-immune cells, are beginning to emerge. Recent analyses in cancer patients revealed increased CatC expression in some malignant cells that correlated with metastasis and poor survival implicating CatC as a biomarker. Mechanistically, tumor-derived CatC was suggested to regulate immune cell functions in the tumor microenvironment thereby promoting tumor growth and metastasis. Specifically, tumor CatC, in addition to neutrophil CatC, may control NSPs and NETs formation – both implicated in cancer biology. Synthetic compounds are now available to inhibit CatC in neutrophils, tumors and other host tissues. Brensocatib is a CatC inhibitor that is currently being evaluated in a phase 3 clinical trial in patients with non-cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis. If effective in preclinical cancer models, brensocatib could possibly be repurposed for treatment of cancer patients.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors thank Guillaume Parrot (University of Tours - SID'com) for his contribution to the figure preparation.

#### Author contributions

All authors contributed to the writing and revision process of the manuscript. B. Korkmaz supervised the work.

#### **Conflict of interest**

B. Korkmaz has been paid for the time spent as a committee member for advisory boards (INSMED Inc., NJ, USA), other forms of consulting (Neuprozyme Therapeutics Aps (Denmark), Santhera Pharmaceuticals (Switzerland)), symposium organization (INSMED Inc., NJ, USA) and travel support, lectures or presentations, outside the submitted work. R.K served on the INSMED advisory board.

#### References

[1] H. Sung, J. Ferlay, R.L. Siegel, M. Laversanne, I. Soerjomataram, A. Jemal, F. Bray, Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries, CA Cancer J Clin 71(3) (2021) 209-249.

[2] Y.H. Luo, L. Luo, J.A. Wampfler, Y. Wang, D. Liu, Y.M. Chen, A.A. Adjei, D.E. Midthun, P. Yang, 5year overall survival in patients with lung cancer eligible or ineligible for screening according to US Preventive Services Task Force criteria: a prospective, observational cohort study, Lancet Oncol 20(8) (2019) 1098-1108.

[3] U. Testa, G. Castelli, E. Pelosi, Lung Cancers: Molecular Characterization, Clonal Heterogeneity and Evolution, and Cancer Stem Cells, Cancers (Basel) 10(8) (2018) 248.

[4] K. Wadowska, I. Bil-Lula, L. Trembecki, M. Sliwinska-Mosson, Genetic Markers in Lung Cancer Diagnosis: A Review, Int J Mol Sci 21(13) (2020) 4569.

[5] S. Jaillon, A. Ponzetta, D. Di Mitri, A. Santoni, R. Bonecchi, A. Mantovani, Neutrophil diversity and plasticity in tumour progression and therapy, Nat Rev Cancer 20(9) (2020) 485-503.

[6] G. Sokeland, U. Schumacher, The functional role of integrins during intra- and extravasation within the metastatic cascade, Mol Cancer 18(1) (2019) 12.

[7] A. Jamil, A. Kasi, Lung Metastasis, StatPearls, Treasure Island (FL), 2021.

[8] J. Albrengues, M.A. Shields, D. Ng, C.G. Park, A. Ambrico, M.E. Poindexter, P. Upadhyay, D.L. Uyeminami, A. Pommier, V. Kuttner, E. Bruzas, L. Maiorino, C. Bautista, E.M. Carmona, P.A. Gimotty, D.T. Fearon, K. Chang, S.K. Lyons, K.E. Pinkerton, L.C. Trotman, M.S. Goldberg, J.T. Yeh, M. Egeblad, Neutrophil extracellular traps produced during inflammation awaken dormant cancer cells in mice, Science 361(6409) (2018) eaao4227.

[9] V. Audrito, A. Manago, F. Gaudino, L. Sorci, V.G. Messana, N. Raffaelli, S. Deaglio, NAD-Biosynthetic and Consuming Enzymes as Central Players of Metabolic Regulation of Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses in Cancer, Front Immunol 10 (2019) 1720.

[10] H. Nozawa, C. Chiu, D. Hanahan, Infiltrating neutrophils mediate the initial angiogenic switch in a mouse model of multistage carcinogenesis, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103(33) (2006) 12493-8.

[11] A.M. Houghton, D.M. Rzymkiewicz, H. Ji, A.D. Gregory, E.E. Egea, H.E. Metz, D.B. Stolz, S.R. Land, L.A. Marconcini, C.R. Kliment, K.M. Jenkins, K.A. Beaulieu, M. Mouded, S.J. Frank, K.K. Wong, S.D. Shapiro, Neutrophil elastase-mediated degradation of IRS-1 accelerates lung tumor growth, Nat Med 16(2) (2010) 219-23.

[12] S. Tohme, H.O. Yazdani, A.B. Al-Khafaji, A.P. Chidi, P. Loughran, K. Mowen, Y. Wang, R.L. Simmons, H. Huang, A. Tsung, Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Promote the Development and Progression of Liver Metastases after Surgical Stress, Cancer Res 76(6) (2016) 1367-80.

[13] F. Shojaei, M. Singh, J.D. Thompson, N. Ferrara, Role of Bv8 in neutrophil-dependent angiogenesis in a transgenic model of cancer progression, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(7) (2008) 2640-5.

[14] N.P. McAndrew, L. Bottalico, C. Mesaros, I.A. Blair, P.Y. Tsao, J.M. Rosado, T. Ganguly, S.J. Song, P.A. Gimotty, J.J. Mao, A. DeMichele, Effects of systemic inflammation on relapse in early breast cancer, NPJ Breast Cancer 7(1) (2021) 7.

[15] A. Varkaris, A. Katsiampoura, J.S. Davis, N. Shah, M. Lam, R.L. Frias, C. Ivan, M. Shimizu, J. Morris, D. Menter, M. Overman, H. Tran, J. Heymach, Y.S. Chun, J.N. Vauthey, G. Calin, S. Kopetz, Circulating inflammation signature predicts overall survival and relapse-free survival in metastatic colorectal cancer, Br J Cancer 120(3) (2019) 340-345.

[16] A.E. Tuomisto, M.J. Makinen, J.P. Vayrynen, Systemic inflammation in colorectal cancer:
Underlying factors, effects, and prognostic significance, World J Gastroenterol 25(31) (2019) 43834404.

[18] A.J. Gentles, A.M. Newman, C.L. Liu, S.V. Bratman, W. Feng, D. Kim, V.S. Nair, Y. Xu, A. Khuong,
C.D. Hoang, M. Diehn, R.B. West, S.K. Plevritis, A.A. Alizadeh, The prognostic landscape of genes and
infiltrating immune cells across human cancers, Nat Med 21(8) (2015) 938-945.

[19] H. Gonzalez, C. Hagerling, Z. Werb, Roles of the immune system in cancer: from tumor initiation to metastatic progression, Genes Dev 32(19-20) (2018) 1267-1284.

[20] C. Thalin, Y. Hisada, S. Lundstrom, N. Mackman, H. Wallen, Neutrophil Extracellular Traps:
 Villains and Targets in Arterial, Venous, and Cancer-Associated Thrombosis, Arterioscler Thromb Vasc
 Biol 39(9) (2019) 1724-1738.

[21] V. Brinkmann, U. Reichard, C. Goosmann, B. Fauler, Y. Uhlemann, D.S. Weiss, Y. Weinrauch, A. Zychlinsky, Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria, Science 303(5663) (2004) 1532-5.

[22] L. Badimon, G. Vilahur, Neutrophil extracellular traps: a new source of tissue factor in atherothrombosis, Eur Heart J 36(22) (2015) 1364-6.

[23] A. Eatemadi, H.T. Aiyelabegan, B. Negahdari, M.A. Mazlomi, H. Daraee, N. Daraee, R. Eatemadi,
E. Sadroddiny, Role of protease and protease inhibitors in cancer pathogenesis and treatment,
Biomed Pharmacother 86 (2017) 221-231.

[24] T.P. Khaket, T.K. Kwon, S.C. Kang, Cathepsins: Potent regulators in carcinogenesis, Pharmacol Ther 198 (2019) 1-19.

[25] O.C. Olson, J.A. Joyce, Cysteine cathepsin proteases: regulators of cancer progression and therapeutic response, Nat Rev Cancer 15(12) (2015) 712-29.

[26] C. Verollet, G.M. Charriere, A. Labrousse, C. Cougoule, V. Le Cabec, I. Maridonneau-Parini, Extracellular proteolysis in macrophage migration: losing grip for a breakthrough, Eur J Immunol 41(10) (2011) 2805-13.

[27] M.D. Roycik, X. Fang, Q.X. Sang, A fresh prospect of extracellular matrix hydrolytic enzymes and their substrates, Curr Pharm Des 15(12) (2009) 1295-308.

[28] V. Christiaens, H.R. Lijnen, Role of the fibrinolytic and matrix metalloproteinase systems in development of adipose tissue, Arch Physiol Biochem 112(4-5) (2006) 254-9.

[29] A.C. Riddick, C.J. Shukla, C.J. Pennington, R. Bass, R.K. Nuttall, A. Hogan, K.K. Sethia, V. Ellis, A.T. Collins, N.J. Maitland, R.Y. Ball, D.R. Edwards, Identification of degradome components associated

with prostate cancer progression by expression analysis of human prostatic tissues, Br J Cancer 92(12) (2005) 2171-80.

[30] R.E. Vandenbroucke, C. Libert, Is there new hope for therapeutic matrix metalloproteinase inhibition?, Nat Rev Drug Discov 13(12) (2014) 904-27.

[31] B. Korkmaz, M. Horwitz, D.E. Jenne, F. Gauthier, Neutrophil elastase, proteinase 3 and cathepsin G as therapeutic targets in human diseases, Pharmacol Rev 62(4) (2010) 726-59.

[32] B. Korkmaz, T. Moreau, F. Gauthier, Neutrophil elastase, proteinase 3 and cathepsin G: physicochemical properties, activity and physiopathological functions, Biochimie 90(2) (2008) 227-42.
[33] N.C. Perera, O. Schilling, H. Kittel, W. Back, E. Kremmer, D.E. Jenne, NSP4, an elastase-related protease in human neutrophils with arginine specificity, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(16) (2012) 6229-34.

[34] N.C. Perera, K.H. Wiesmuller, M.T. Larsen, B. Schacher, P. Eickholz, N. Borregaard, D.E. Jenne, NSP4 is stored in azurophil granules and released by activated neutrophils as active endoprotease with restricted specificity, J Immunol 191(5) (2013) 2700-7.

[35] B. Korkmaz, A. Lesner, C. Guarino, M. Wysocka, C. Kellenberger, H. Watier, U. Specks, F. Gauthier, D.E. Jenne, Inhibitors and Antibody Fragments as Potential Anti-Inflammatory Therapeutics Targeting Neutrophil Proteinase 3 in Human Disease, Pharmacol Rev 68(3) (2016) 603-30.

[36] M. Demers, D.S. Krause, D. Schatzberg, K. Martinod, J.R. Voorhees, T.A. Fuchs, D.T. Scadden, D.D. Wagner, Cancers predispose neutrophils to release extracellular DNA traps that contribute to cancerassociated thrombosis, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(32) (2012) 13076-81.

[37] T.A. Fuchs, A. Brill, D. Duerschmied, D. Schatzberg, M. Monestier, D.D. Myers, Jr., S.K. Wrobleski,T.W. Wakefield, J.H. Hartwig, D.D. Wagner, Extracellular DNA traps promote thrombosis, Proc NatlAcad Sci U S A 107(36) (2010) 15880-5.

[38] A. Schreiber, A. Rousselle, J.U. Becker, A. von Massenhausen, A. Linkermann, R. Kettritz, Necroptosis controls NET generation and mediates complement activation, endothelial damage, and autoimmune vasculitis, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(45) (2017) E9618-E9625.

[39] V. Papayannopoulos, K.D. Metzler, A. Hakkim, A. Zychlinsky, Neutrophil elastase and myeloperoxidase regulate the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps, J Cell Biol 191(3) (2010) 677-91.

[40] K.D. Metzler, C. Goosmann, A. Lubojemska, A. Zychlinsky, V. Papayannopoulos, A myeloperoxidase-containing complex regulates neutrophil elastase release and actin dynamics during NETosis, Cell Rep 8(3) (2014) 883-96.

[41] S.A.I. Weiss, S.R.T. Rehm, N.C. Perera, M.L. Biniossek, O. Schilling, D.E. Jenne, Origin and Expansion of the Serine Protease Repertoire in the Myelomonocyte Lineage, Int J Mol Sci 22(4) (2021) 1658.

[42] K. Kessenbrock, T. Dau, D.E. Jenne, Tailor-made inflammation: how neutrophil serine proteases modulate the inflammatory response, J Mol Med (Berl) 89(1) (2011) 23-8.

[43] A. Schreiber, C.T. Pham, Y. Hu, W. Schneider, F.C. Luft, R. Kettritz, Neutrophil serine proteases promote IL-1beta generation and injury in necrotizing crescentic glomerulonephritis, J Am Soc Nephrol 23(3) (2012) 470-82.

[44] B. Korkmaz, G.H. Caughey, I. Chapple, F. Gauthier, J. Hirschfeld, D.E. Jenne, R. Kettritz, G. Lalmanach, A.S. Lamort, C. Lauritzen, M. Legowska, A. Lesner, S. Marchand-Adam, S.J. McKaig, C. Moss, J. Pedersen, H. Roberts, A. Schreiber, S. Seren, N.S. Thakker, Therapeutic targeting of cathepsin C: from pathophysiology to treatment, Pharmacol Ther 190 (2018) 202-236.

[45] R. Kettritz, Neutral serine proteases of neutrophils, Immunol Rev 273(1) (2016) 232-48.

[46] U. Jerke, D.P. Hernandez, P. Beaudette, B. Korkmaz, G. Dittmar, R. Kettritz, Neutrophil serine proteases exert proteolytic activity on endothelial cells, Kidney Int 88(4) (2015) 764-75.

[47] J. Zoidakis, M. Makridakis, P.G. Zerefos, V. Bitsika, S. Esteban, M. Frantzi, K. Stravodimos, N.P. Anagnou, M.G. Roubelakis, M. Sanchez-Carbayo, A. Vlahou, Profilin 1 is a potential biomarker for bladder cancer aggressiveness, Mol Cell Proteomics 11(4) (2012) M111 009449.

[48] C. Guarino, M. Legowska, C. Epinette, C. Kellenberger, S. Dallet-Choisy, M. Sienczyk, G. Gabant,M. Cadene, J. Zoidakis, A. Vlahou, M. Wysocka, S. Marchand-Adam, D.E. Jenne, A. Lesner, F. Gauthier,

B. Korkmaz, New selective peptidyl di(chlorophenyl) phosphonate esters for visualizing and blocking neutrophil proteinase 3 in human diseases, J Biol Chem 289(46) (2014) 31777-91.

[49] N. Vaguliene, M. Zemaitis, S. Lavinskiene, S. Miliauskas, R. Sakalauskas, Local and systemic neutrophilic inflammation in patients with lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, BMC Immunol 14 (2013) 36.

[50] I. Lerman, S.R. Hammes, Neutrophil elastase in the tumor microenvironment, Steroids 133 (2018) 96-101.

[51] M. Kistowski, J. Debski, J. Karczmarski, A. Paziewska, J. Oledzki, M. Mikula, J. Ostrowski, M. Dadlez, A Strong Neutrophil Elastase Proteolytic Fingerprint Marks the Carcinoma Tumor Proteome, Mol Cell Proteomics 16(2) (2017) 213-227.

[52] A. Teijeira, S. Garasa, M. Gato, C. Alfaro, I. Migueliz, A. Cirella, C. de Andrea, M.C. Ochoa, I. Otano, I. Etxeberria, M.P. Andueza, C.P. Nieto, L. Resano, A. Azpilikueta, M. Allegretti, M. de Pizzol, M. Ponz-Sarvise, A. Rouzaut, M.F. Sanmamed, K. Schalper, M. Carleton, M. Mellado, M.E. Rodriguez-Ruiz, P. Berraondo, J.L. Perez-Gracia, I. Melero, CXCR1 and CXCR2 Chemokine Receptor Agonists Produced by Tumors Induce Neutrophil Extracellular Traps that Interfere with Immune Cytotoxicity, Immunity 52(5) (2020) 856-871 e8.

[53] A.S. Ireland, T.G. Oliver, Neutrophils Create an ImpeNETrable Shield between Tumor and Cytotoxic Immune Cells, Immunity 52(5) (2020) 729-731.

[54] E. Cerami, J. Gao, U. Dogrusoz, B.E. Gross, S.O. Sumer, B.A. Aksoy, A. Jacobsen, C.J. Byrne, M.L. Heuer, E. Larsson, Y. Antipin, B. Reva, A.P. Goldberg, C. Sander, N. Schultz, The cBio cancer genomics portal: an open platform for exploring multidimensional cancer genomics data, Cancer Discov 2(5) (2012) 401-4.

[55] J. Gao, B.A. Aksoy, U. Dogrusoz, G. Dresdner, B. Gross, S.O. Sumer, Y. Sun, A. Jacobsen, R. Sinha,E. Larsson, E. Cerami, C. Sander, N. Schultz, Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal, Sci Signal 6(269) (2013) pl1.

[56] M. Imielinski, G. Guo, M. Meyerson, Insertions and Deletions Target Lineage-Defining Genes in Human Cancers, Cell 168(3) (2017) 460-472 e14.

[57] D. Turk, V. Janjic, I. Stern, M. Podobnik, D. Lamba, S.W. Dahl, C. Lauritzen, J. Pedersen, V. Turk, B. Turk, Structure of human dipeptidyl peptidase I (cathepsin C): exclusion domain added to an endopeptidase framework creates the machine for activation of granular serine proteases, EMBO J 20(23) (2001) 6570-82.

[58] A.M. Adkison, S.Z. Raptis, D.G. Kelley, C.T. Pham, Dipeptidyl peptidase I activates neutrophilderived serine proteases and regulates the development of acute experimental arthritis, J Clin Invest 109(3) (2002) 363-71.

[59] C.T. Pham, J.L. Ivanovich, S.Z. Raptis, B. Zehnbauer, T.J. Ley, Papillon-Lefevre syndrome: correlating the molecular, cellular, and clinical consequences of cathepsin C/dipeptidyl peptidase I deficiency in humans, J Immunol 173(12) (2004) 7277-81.

[60] P.J. Wolters, C.T. Pham, D.J. Muilenburg, T.J. Ley, G.H. Caughey, Dipeptidyl peptidase I is essential for activation of mast cell chymases, but not tryptases, in mice, J Biol Chem 276(21) (2001) 18551-6.

[61] M.J. Smyth, M.J. McGuire, K.Y. Thia, Expression of recombinant human granzyme B. A processing and activation role for dipeptidyl peptidase I, J Immunol 154(12) (1995) 6299-305.

[62] V.R. Sutton, N.J. Waterhouse, K.A. Browne, K. Sedelies, A. Ciccone, D. Anthony, A. Koskinen, A. Mullbacher, J.A. Trapani, Residual active granzyme B in cathepsin C-null lymphocytes is sufficient for perforin-dependent target cell apoptosis, J Cell Biol 176(4) (2007) 425-33.

[63] S.W. Dahl, T. Halkier, C. Lauritzen, I. Dolenc, J. Pedersen, V. Turk, B. Turk, Human recombinant pro-dipeptidyl peptidase I (cathepsin C) can be activated by cathepsins L and S but not by autocatalytic processing, Biochemistry 40(6) (2001) 1671-8.

[64] A.S. Lamort, Y. Hamon, C. Czaplewski, A. Gieldon, S. Seren, L. Coquet, F. Lecaille, A. Lesner, G. Lalmanach, F. Gauthier, D. Jenne, B. Korkmaz, Processing and Maturation of Cathepsin C Zymogen: A Biochemical and Molecular Modeling Analysis, Int J Mol Sci 20(19) (2019) 4747.

[65] A. Molgaard, J. Arnau, C. Lauritzen, S. Larsen, G. Petersen, J. Pedersen, The crystal structure of human dipeptidyl peptidase I (cathepsin C) in complex with the inhibitor Gly-Phe-CHN2, Biochem J 401(3) (2007) 645-50.

[66] Y. Hamon, M. Legowska, V. Herve, S. Dallet-Choisy, S. Marchand-Adam, L. Vanderlynden, M. Demonte, R. Williams, C.J. Scott, M. Si-Tahar, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, G. Lalmanach, D.E. Jenne, A. Lesner, F. Gauthier, B. Korkmaz, Neutrophilic cathepsin C is maturated by a multi-step proteolytic process and secreted by activated cells during inflammatory lung diseases, J Biol Chem 291(16) (2016) 8486-99.

[67] S. Seren, L. Derian, I. Keles, A. Guillon, A. Lesner, L. Gonzalez, T. Baranek, M. Si-Tahar, S. Marchand-Adam, D.E. Jenne, C. Paget, Y. Jouan, B. Korkmaz, Proteinase release from activated neutrophils in mechanically ventilated patients with non-COVID-19 and COVID-19 pneumonia, Eur Respir J 57(4) (2021) 2003755.

[68] C. Toomes, J. James, A.J. Wood, C.L. Wu, D. McCormick, N. Lench, C. Hewitt, L. Moynihan, E. Roberts, C.G. Woods, A. Markham, M. Wong, R. Widmer, K.A. Ghaffar, M. Pemberton, I.R. Hussein, S.A. Temtamy, R. Davies, A.P. Read, P. Sloan, M.J. Dixon, N.S. Thakker, Loss-of-function mutations in the cathepsin C gene result in periodontal disease and palmoplantar keratosis, Nat Genet 23(4) (1999) 421-4.

[69] T.C. Hart, P.S. Hart, D.W. Bowden, M.D. Michalec, S.A. Callison, S.J. Walker, Y. Zhang, E. Firatli, Mutations of the cathepsin C gene are responsible for Papillon-Lefevre syndrome, J Med Genet 36(12) (1999) 881-7.

[70] S. Seren, M. Rashed Abouzaid, C. Eulenberg-Gustavus, J. Hirschfeld, H. Nasr Soliman, U. Jerke, K. N'Guessan, S. Dallet-Choisy, A. Lesner, C. Lauritzen, B. Schacher, P. Eickholz, N. Nagy, M. Szell, C. Croix, M.C. Viaud-Massuard, A. Al Farraj Aldosari, S. Ragunatha, M. Ibrahim Mostafa, F. Giampieri, M. Battino, H. Cornillier, G. Lorette, J.L. Stephan, C. Goizet, J. Pedersen, F. Gauthier, D.E. Jenne, S. Marchand-Adam, I.L. Chapple, R. Kettritz, B. Korkmaz, Consequences of cathepsin C inactivation for

membrane exposure of proteinase 3, the target antigen in autoimmune vasculitis, J Biol Chem 293(32) (2018) 12415-12428.

[71] O.E. Sorensen, S.N. Clemmensen, S.L. Dahl, O. Ostergaard, N.H. Heegaard, A. Glenthoj, F.C. Nielsen, N. Borregaard, Papillon-Lefevre syndrome patient reveals species-dependent requirements for neutrophil defenses, J Clin Invest 124(10) (2014) 4539-48.

[72] H. Roberts, P. White, I. Dias, S. McKaig, R. Veeramachaneni, N. Thakker, M. Grant, I. Chapple, Characterization of neutrophil function in Papillon-Lefevre syndrome, J Leukoc Biol 100(2) (2016) 433-44.

[73] B. Ruffell, N.I. Affara, L. Cottone, S. Junankar, M. Johansson, D.G. DeNardo, L. Korets, T. Reinheckel, B.F. Sloane, M. Bogyo, L.M. Coussens, Cathepsin C is a tissue-specific regulator of squamous carcinogenesis, Genes Dev 27(19) (2013) 2086-98.

[74] G.P. Zhang, X. Yue, S.Q. Li, Cathepsin C Interacts with TNF-alpha/p38 MAPK Signaling Pathway to
Promote Proliferation and Metastasis in Hepatocellular Carcinoma, Cancer Res Treat 52(1) (2020) 1023.

[75] K.C. Chiang, C.Y. Lai, H.L. Chiou, C.L. Lin, Y.S. Chen, S.H. Kao, Y.H. Hsieh, Timosaponin AIII inhibits metastasis of renal carcinoma cells through suppressing cathepsin C expression by AKT/miR-129-5p axis, J Cell Physiol 234(8) (2019) 13332-13341.

[76] S. Kim, S.I. Lee, N. Kim, M. Joo, K.H. Lee, M.W. Lee, H.J. Jeon, H. Ryu, J.M. Kim, J.Y. Sul, G.Y. Song, J.Y. Kim, H.J. Lee, Decursin inhibits cell growth and autophagic flux in gastric cancer via suppression of cathepsin C, Am J Cancer Res 11(4) (2021) 1304-1320.

[77] T.P. Khaket, M.P. Singh, I. Khan, M. Bhardwaj, S.C. Kang, Targeting of cathepsin C induces autophagic dysregulation that directs ER stress mediated cellular cytotoxicity in colorectal cancer cells, Cell Signal 46 (2018) 92-102.

[78] Y. Xiao, M. Cong, J. Li, D. He, Q. Wu, P. Tian, Y. Wang, S. Yang, C. Liang, Y. Liang, J. Wen, Y. Liu, W. Luo, X. Lv, Y. He, D.D. Cheng, T. Zhou, W. Zhao, P. Zhang, X. Zhang, Y. Xiao, Y. Qian, H. Wang, Q. Gao, Q.C. Yang, Q. Yang, G. Hu, Cathepsin C promotes breast cancer lung metastasis by modulating

neutrophil infiltration and neutrophil extracellular trap formation, Cancer Cell 39(3) (2020) 423-437.e7.

[79] B. Korkmaz, J. Jaillet, M.L. Jourdan, A. Gauthier, F. Gauthier, S. Attucci, Catalytic activity and inhibition of wegener antigen proteinase 3 on the cell surface of human polymorphonuclear neutrophils, J Biol Chem 284(30) (2009) 19896-902.

[80] B. Korkmaz, A. Lesner, S. Letast, Y.K. Mahdi, M.L. Jourdan, S. Dallet-Choisy, S. Marchand-Adam,
C. Kellenberger, M.C. Viaud-Massuard, D.E. Jenne, F. Gauthier, Neutrophil proteinase 3 and dipeptidyl peptidase I (cathepsin C) as pharmacological targets in granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener granulomatosis), Semin Immunopathol 35(4) (2013) 411-21.

[81] U. Jerke, S.F. Marino, O. Daumke, R. Kettritz, Characterization of the CD177 interaction with the ANCA antigen proteinase 3, Sci Rep 7 (2017) 43328.

[82] H. Pfister, M. Ollert, L.F. Frohlich, L. Quintanilla-Martinez, T.V. Colby, U. Specks, D.E. Jenne, Antineutrophil cytoplasmic autoantibodies against the murine homolog of proteinase 3 (Wegener autoantigen) are pathogenic in vivo, Blood 104(5) (2004) 1411-8.

[83] B. Korkmaz, D.E. Jenne, F. Gauthier, Relevance of the mouse model as a therapeutic approach for neutrophil proteinase 3-associated human diseases, Int Immunopharmacol 17(4) (2013) 1198-205.

[84] B. Korkmaz, E. Hajjar, T. Kalupov, N. Reuter, M. Brillard-Bourdet, T. Moreau, L. Juliano, F. Gauthier, Influence of charge distribution at the active site surface on the substrate specificity of human neutrophil protease 3 and elastase. A kinetic and molecular modeling analysis, J Biol Chem 282(3) (2007) 1989-97.

[85] T. Kalupov, M. Brillard-Bourdet, S. Dade, H. Serrano, J. Wartelle, N. Guyot, L. Juliano, T. Moreau, A. Belaaouaj, F. Gauthier, Structural characterization of mouse neutrophil serine proteases and identification of their substrate specificities: Relevance to mouse models of human inflammatory diseases, J Biol Chem 284(49) (2009) 34084-91.

[86] B. Korkmaz, I. Keles, Cathepsin C as pharmacological target in cancer, http://online.cancerresearch2021.org/hibrit/pdf/dijital-kitap.pdf (2021).

[87] W. Hou, H. Sun, Y. Ma, C. Liu, Z. Zhang, Identification and Optimization of Novel Cathepsin C Inhibitors Derived from EGFR Inhibitors, J Med Chem 62(12) (2019) 5901-5919.

[88] X. Chen, Y. Yan, Z. Zhang, F. Zhang, M. Liu, L. Du, H. Zhang, X. Shen, D. Zhao, J.B. Shi, X. Liu, Discovery and In Vivo Anti-inflammatory Activity Evaluation of a Novel Non-peptidyl Non-covalent Cathepsin C Inhibitor, J Med Chem 64(16) (2021) 11857-11885.

[89] S.A. Miller, D.D. Dykes, H.F. Polesky, A simple salting out procedure for extracting DNA from human nucleated cells, Nucleic Acids Res 16(3) (1988) 1215.

[90] J.D. Chalmers, C.S. Haworth, M.L. Metersky, M.R. Loebinger, F. Blasi, O. Sibila, A.E. O'Donnell, E.J. Sullivan, K.C. Mange, C. Fernandez, J. Zou, C.L. Daley, W. Investigators, Phase 2 Trial of the DPP-1 Inhibitor Brensocatib in Bronchiectasis, N Engl J Med 383(22) (2020) 2127-2137.

[91] B. Korkmaz, A. Lesner, M. Wysocka, A. Gieldon, M. Hakansson, F. Gauthier, D.T. Logan, D.E. Jenne, C. Lauritzen, J. Pedersen, Structure-based design and in vivo anti-arthritic activity evaluation of a potent dipeptidyl cyclopropyl nitrile inhibitor of cathepsin C, Biochem Pharmacol 164 (2019) 349-367.

[92] K. Doyle, H. Lonn, H. Kack, A. Van de Poel, S. Swallow, P. Gardiner, S. Connolly, J. Root, C. Wikell,
G. Dahl, K. Stenvall, P. Johannesson, Discovery of Second Generation Reversible Covalent DPP1
Inhibitors Leading to an Oxazepane Amidoacetonitrile Based Clinical Candidate (AZD7986), J Med
Chem 59(20) (2016) 9457-9472.

[93] S.R.T. Rehm, N.F. Smirnova, C. Morrone, J. Gotzfried, A. Feuchtinger, J. Pedersen, B. Korkmaz, A.O. Yildirim, D.E. Jenne, Premedication with a cathepsin C inhibitor alleviates early primary graft dysfunction in mouse recipients after lung transplantation, Sci Rep 9(1) (2019) 9925.

[94] C. Guarino, Y. Hamon, C. Croix, A.S. Lamort, S. Dallet-Choisy, S. Marchand-Adam, A. Lesner, T. Baranek, M.C. Viaud-Massuard, C. Lauritzen, J. Pedersen, N. Heuze-Vourc'h, M. Si-Tahar, E. Firatli, D.E. Jenne, F. Gauthier, M.S. Horwitz, N. Borregaard, B. Korkmaz, Prolonged pharmacological

inhibition of cathepsin C results in elimination of neutrophil serine proteases, Biochem Pharmacol 131 (2017) 52-67.

[95] R. Palmer, J. Maenpaa, A. Jauhiainen, B. Larsson, J. Mo, M. Russell, J. Root, S. Prothon, L. Chialda,
P. Forte, T. Egelrud, K. Stenvall, P. Gardiner, Dipeptidyl Peptidase 1 Inhibitor AZD7986 Induces a
Sustained, Exposure-Dependent Reduction in Neutrophil Elastase Activity in Healthy Subjects, Clin
Pharmacol Ther 104(6) (2018) 1155-1164.

[96] J.D. Chalmers, C.S. Haworth, M.L. Metersky, M.R. Loebinger, F. Blasi, O. Sibila, A.E. O'Donnell, E.J. Sullivan, K.C. Mange, C. Fernandez, J. Zou, C.L. Daley, W. Investigators, Phase 2 Trial of the DPP-1 Inhibitor Brensocatib in Bronchiectasis, N Engl J Med 383(22) (2020) 2127-2137.

[97] A.F. Barker, Bronchiectasis, N Engl J Med 346(18) (2002) 1383-93.

[98] B. Korkmaz, A. Lesner, S. Marchand-Adam, C. Moss, D.E. Jenne, Lung Protection by Cathepsin C Inhibition: A New Hope for COVID-19 and ARDS?, J Med Chem 63(22) (2020) 13258-13265.

[99] M. Fujinaga, M.M. Chernaia, R. Halenbeck, K. Koths, M.N. James, The crystal structure of PR3, a neutrophil serine proteinase antigen of Wegener's granulomatosis antibodies, J Mol Biol 261(2) (1996) 267-78.

[100] S.J. Macdonald, M.D. Dowle, L.A. Harrison, G.D. Clarke, G.G. Inglis, M.R. Johnson, P. Shah, R.A. Smith, A. Amour, G. Fleetwood, D.C. Humphreys, C.R. Molloy, M. Dixon, R.E. Godward, A.J. Wonacott, O.M. Singh, S.T. Hodgson, G.W. Hardy, Discovery of further pyrrolidine trans-lactams as inhibitors of human neutrophil elastase (HNE) with potential as development candidates and the crystal structure of HNE complexed with an inhibitor (GW475151), J Med Chem 45(18) (2002) 3878-90.

[101] P. Hof, I. Mayr, R. Huber, E. Korzus, J. Potempa, J. Travis, J.C. Powers, W. Bode, The 1.8 A crystal structure of human cathepsin G in complex with Suc-Val-Pro-PheP-(OPh)2: a Janus-faced proteinase with two opposite specificities, Embo J 15(20) (1996) 5481-91.

[102] S.J. Lin, K.C. Dong, C. Eigenbrot, M. van Lookeren Campagne, D. Kirchhofer, Structures of neutrophil serine protease 4 reveal an unusual mechanism of substrate recognition by a trypsin-fold protease, Structure 22(9) (2014) 1333-40.

[103] B. Korkmaz, S. Attucci, T. Moreau, E. Godat, L. Juliano, F. Gauthier, Design and use of highly specific substrates of neutrophil elastase and proteinase 3, Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 30(6) (2004) 801-7.

[104] Y. Hamon, M. Legowska, P. Fergelot, S. Dallet-Choisy, L. Newell, L. Vanderlynden, A. Kord Valeshabad, K. Acrich, H. Kord, T. Charalampos, F. Morice-Picard, I. Surplice, J. Zoidakis, K. David, A. Vlahou, S. Ragunatha, N. Nagy, K. Farkas, M. Szell, C. Goizet, B. Schacher, M. Battino, A. Al Farraj Aldosari, X. Wang, Y. Liu, S. Marchand-Adam, A. Lesner, E. Kara, S. Korkmaz-Icoz, C. Moss, P. Eickholz, A. Taieb, S. Kavukcu, D.E. Jenne, F. Gauthier, B. Korkmaz, Analysis of urinary cathepsin C for diagnosing Papillon-Lefevre syndrome, FEBS J 283(3) (2016) 498-509.

[105] D. Laine, M. Palovich, B. McCleland, E. Petitjean, I. Delhom, H. Xie, J. Deng, G. Lin, R. Davis, A. Jolit, N. Nevins, B. Zhao, J. Villa, J. Schneck, P. McDevitt, R. Midgett, C. Kmett, S. Umbrecht, B. Peck, A.B. Davis, D. Bettoun, Discovery of novel cyanamide-based inhibitors of cathepsin C, ACS Med Chem Lett 2(2) (2011) 142-7.

[106] L. Redecke, K. Nass, D.P. DePonte, T.A. White, D. Rehders, A. Barty, F. Stellato, M. Liang, T.R.M. Barends, S. Boutet, G.J. Williams, M. Messerschmidt, M.M. Seibert, A. Aquila, D. Arnlund, S. Bajt, T. Barth, M.J. Bogan, C. Caleman, T.C. Chao, R.B. Doak, H. Fleckenstein, M. Frank, R. Fromme, L. Galli, I. Grotjohann, M.S. Hunter, L.C. Johansson, S. Kassemeyer, G. Katona, R.A. Kirian, R. Koopmann, C. Kupitz, L. Lomb, A.V. Martin, S. Mogk, R. Neutze, R.L. Shoeman, J. Steinbrener, N. Timneanu, D. Wang, U. Weierstall, N.A. Zatsepin, J.C.H. Spence, P. Fromme, I. Schlichting, M. Duszenko, C. Betzel, H.N. Chapman, Natively inhibited Trypanosoma brucei cathepsin B structure determined by using an X-ray laser, Science 339(6116) (2013) 227-230.

[107] I. Schechter, A. Berger, On the size of the active site in proteases. I. Papain, Biochem Biophys Res Commun 27(2) (1967) 157-62.

[108] M. Legowska, Y. Hamon, A. Wojtysiak, R. Grzywa, M. Sienczyk, T. Burster, B. Korkmaz, A. Lesner, Development of the first internally-quenched fluorescent substrates of human cathepsin C:

The application in the enzyme detection in biological samples, Arch Biochem Biophys 612 (2016) 91-

102.

#### FIGURE LEGENDS:

Figure 1. NSPs and CatC in the inflammatory tumor microenvironment. (*Left*) Maturation of NSPs. NSP zymogens are processed and converted to active enzymes by CatC during the promyelocytic stage of neutrophil differentiation in the bone marrow. Pro-dipeptides of NSPs, removed by CatC, are shown in orange. (*Right*) Release of NSPs and CatC from activated neutrophils. Mature NSPs and CatC stored in intracellular granules are released from activated neutrophils following degranulation. NSPs are also detected in the inflammatory tumor microenvironment on neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) consisting of extracellular nuclear DNA from activated neutrophils. Expression and release of cancer cell-derived CatC. Cancer cells can secrete mature and/or proCatC.

**Figure 2.** Three-dimensional structures of human NSPs. (*Left*) Solvent accessible surfaces and (*Right*) ribbon plots of NSPs. The depicted 3D structures are based on the 3D atomic coordinates of PR3 [Protein Data Bank (PDB) code: 1FUJ, [99]], NE in complex with inhibitor GW475151 [PDB code: 1H1B [100]], CatG in complex with the peptidyl phosphonate inhibitor Suc-Val-Pro-Phe<sup>P</sup>- (OPh)<sub>2</sub> [PDB code: 1CGH, [101]] and NSP4 in complex with the chloromethylketone inhibitor Phe-Phe-Arg-CMK [PDB code: 4Q7Z, [102]]. The structures on the left show the positive (blue) and negative (red) electrostatic surface potential. Ribbon plots of NSPs show the characteristics of the trypsin/chymotrypsin family, the two asymmetric β-barrels, and the C-terminal α-helix. Positions of the subsites S4 to S2' in the active site region of PR3 are shown in orange [103]. Bound inhibitors are shown as green stick models.

**Figure 3. NSP expression in human bladder cancer.** (**A**) Schematic representation of different bladder cancer stages progressing from Ta to T4. Ta: This stage refers to noninvasive papillary carcinoma; T1: The tumor has spread to the connective tissue called the lamina propria that separates the lining of the bladder from the muscles beneath, but does not involve the bladder wall muscle;

T2: The tumor has spread to the muscle of the bladder wall; T3: The tumor has grown into the perivesical tissue that surrounds the bladder; T3A: Microscopic perivesical tissue infiltration; T3B: Macroscopic perivesical tissue infiltration; T4: The tumor has spread to any of the following: the abdominal or pelvic wall, prostate or seminal vesicles, uterus, or vagina. **(B)** Western blot detection of secreted PR3 in 10x concentrated urine samples of patients with bladder cancer using an anti-PR3 antibody (*left*). Selective labeling of PR3 using the activity-based probe biotin-Pro-Tyr-Asp-Ala<sup>P</sup>-(O-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>-4-Cl)<sub>2</sub> [48] in concentrated (10x) urine samples. **(C)** Activity determination of secreted PR3 in the urine of patients with different stages of bladder cancers. Rate of hydrolysis of selective PR3 substrate ABZ-VAD(nor)VADYQ-EDDnp in concentrated (10x) urine from patients with bladder cancer. Proteolytically active PR3 in unconcentrated urine was 0.1-1 nM based on the rate of substrate hydrolysis. Immunodetection and PR3 activity quantification in urine according to cancer stages (numbers of patients displaying benign lesions, n=11, and early stages of bladder cancer; Ta, n = 10, T1, n = 12, and T2, n = 12 [48] **(D)** Western blot analyses of NE (*upper panel*) and myeloperoxidase (MPO) (*lower panel*) in concentrated (10x) urine samples from healthy volunteers and patients with bladder cancer.

**Figure 4. Alteration of NSPs in human cancers.** Shown are *CTSC*, *ELANE*, *PRTN3*, *CTSG*, and *PRSS57* mutation frequencies in the cancer genome atlas (TCGA) pan-cancer dataset (n = 10.189 patients), in form of a clinical and molecular data plot with alteration frequencies (**A**) and co-mutation matrix (**B**). Columns represent patients and rows clinical/molecular features. Data were accessed at https://www.cbioportal.org/ on March 1<sup>st</sup> 2021. TCGA acronyms were from https://gdc.cancer.gov/resources-tcga-users/tcga-code-tables/tcga-study-abbreviations accessed on the same date. *P*, probability, hypergeometric test; FDR *q*, probability, false discovery rate.

Figure 5. NSP gene-alteration in cancer types. Cumulative *CTSC*, *ELANE*, *PRTN3*, *CTSG*, and *PRSS57* mutation frequencies across cancer types from the TCGA pan-cancer dataset (n = 10.189) (A,
B). Data were accessed at https://www.cbioportal.org/ on March 1st 2021. TCGA acronyms were from

https://gdc.cancer.gov/resources-tcga-users/tcga-code-tables/tcga-study-abbreviations accessed on the same date. *P*, probability,  $\chi^2$  test.

**Figure 6.** NSPs mutations in human cancers. Lollipop plots of *CTSC* (A), *ELANE* (B), *PRTN3* (C), *CTSG* (D), and *PRSS57* (E) mutations across cancer types from the TCGA pan-cancer dataset (n = 10.189). Data were accessed at https://www.cbioportal.org/ on March 1<sup>st</sup> 2021. TCGA acronyms were from https://gdc.cancer.gov/resources-tcga-users/tcga-code-tables/tcga-study-abbreviations accessed on the same date.

# Figure 7. Frequency distributions of CatC/NSP mutations and progression-free patient survival.

(A) Frequency distributions of *CTSC*, *ELANE*, *PRTN3*, *CTSG*, and *PRSS57* mutant cancers compared with non-altered cancers from the TCGA pan-cancer dataset (n = 10.189) according to relapse (*top*) and cancer grades G1 (considered as a low grade) to GX (considered as a high grade) (*bottom*). G1: well differentiated (low grade); G2: moderately differentiated (intermediate grade); G3: poorly differentiated (high grade); G4: undifferentiated (high grade); GB: grade borderline; GX: grade cannot be assessed (undetermined grade). (**B**, **C**) CatC and NSP mutations characterize high-grade human cancers that tend to relapse. Progression-free survival of patients with *CTSC*, *ELANE*, *PRTN3*, *CTSG*, *PRSS57*, or none of the above mutations (C) in the TCGA pan-cancer dataset (n = 10.189). *CTSC* and *PRTN3*-mutant cancers are associated with decreased patient survival. Shown are Kaplan-Meier survival estimates. Data were accessed at https://www.cbioportal.org/ on March 1st 2021. *P*, probability,  $\chi^2$  test (A) and log-rank test (B, C).

**Figure 8.** Physiologic CatC expression in different tissues. (A) *CTSC* mRNA (blue) and protein (brown) expression were ranked as low (little square), medium (middle-long bar), and high (long horizontal bar). Low mRNA, <25 normalized transcripts per million; medium, 25-50 normalized transcripts per million. Low protein, expression by <25%

of individuals tested; medium, protein expression by 25–50% of individuals tested; high, protein expression by >50% of individuals tested. RNA-seq and immunohistochemistry data were from The Human Protein Atlas (https://www.proteinatlas.org/). (**B**) Immunoperoxidase detection of CatC (brown) in diverse healthy organs lung, gallbladder, testis, kidney) using anti-CatC sc-74590 HRP. Images provided by Charline Bubel (Santa Cruz Biotechnology). (**C**) Western blot analysis of secreted CatC in 10x concentrated urine samples of seven healthy donors using an anti-CatC antibody (sc-74590) directed against the 23 kDa CatC heavy chain. The samples are concentrated 10 times [104]. The unprocessed pro-CatC single chain and the heavy chain liberated upon processing are detected in urine samples. The diagram on the right illustrates the processing of the 60 kDa proCatC into the mature CatC. The arrow indicates the CatC heavy chain.

**Figure 9. Human proCatC and mature CatC structures. (A)** Model structure of human proCatC monomer. The surface representation of the exclusion domain and papain-like catalytic domain is shown and colored in grey. The ribbon plot shows the topology of the propeptide (residues <sub>120</sub>Thr-His<sub>206</sub>) in orange. Leu, Arg and Asp (<sub>369</sub>Leu-Arg/Asp<sub>371</sub>, the sequence containing the cleavage sites of proCatC maturating proteases between the heavy and light chains) are colored in yellow, blue and red respectively. **(B)** ProCatC homodimer constituted of monomers A and B in surface representation with the same color coding as in A is shown. **(C)** Processing by CatL-like proteases of two homodimers and their association to form proteolytically mature tetrameric CatC. The models [64] were based on the crystal structures of human CatC (PDB code: 3PDF [105]), and the crystal structures of trypanosome brucei proCatB (PDB code: 4HWY [106]).

**Figure 10. NSP degradation as a result of CatC inhibition.** Structure of two CatC inhibitors, IcatC<sub>XPZ-01</sub> [91] and brensocatib [92].

Figure 11. Model structure of the complex formed between IcatC<sub>XPZ-01</sub> or a FRET substrate and human CatC. (*Left*) Solvent accessible surface of CatC colored according to its positive (blue) and negative (red) electrostratic potential. (*Right*) The carbon atoms of CatC and compounds are shown in turquoise and green, respectively. Oxygen, nitrogen, sulfur atoms are colored in red, blue and yellow, respectively. Critical residues in the vicinity of the active site involved in binding e.g. Asp-1 (D1) and Pro-3 (P3) are labeled in black. The position P2 according to the nomenclature of Schechter and Berger [107] is highlighted by the violet label "P2" and shows residues of the compounds interacting with CatC. (A) The coordinates of CatC complex with amino-N-((1*R*,2*R*)-1-cyano-2-(4'-((4methylpiperazin-1-yl)sulfonyl)-[1,'-biphenyl]-4-yl)cyclopropyl)cyclohexane-1-carboxamide (PDB code: 6IC7 [91]) was used for molecular modeling. (B) The model of internally-quenched fluorescent substrate Thi-Ala(Mca)-Ser-Gln-Tyr(3-NO<sub>2</sub>)-NH<sub>2</sub> in complex with CatC [108] (based on PDB code: 2DJF [65]). The presence of the exclusion domain blocks the enzyme active site beyond the S2 subsite, making it only accessible to the N-terminus of its substrates. The CatC S2 subsite is the deepest site and it has the shape of a pocket.



INFLAMMATORY MICROENVIRONMENT





# A

#### Oncotree code Diagnosis age Sex • Overall survival (months) Overal survival status • Aneuploidy score ٠ 10.5 A LIVE AND A LIVE A REAL Mutation spectrum Fraction genome altered Mutation count CTSC 2.1%\* ELANE 1.8%\* PRTN3 1.6%\* CTSG 1.3%\* PRSS57 1.8%\* Genetic Missense mutation Splice mutation Truncation mutation Fusion alteration Amplification No alterations UNKNOWN SIGNIFICANCE Deep deletion

Total alteration frequency = 619 of 10189 patients = 6.1%

Oncotree code

Adrenocortical carcinoma	Glioblastoma multiforme	Pancreatic adenocarcinoma		
Acute myeloid leukemia	Hepatocellular carcinoma	Paraganglioma		
Bladder urothelial carcinoma	Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	Pheochromocytoma		
Invasive breast carcinoma	Breast invasive ductal carcinoma	Perihilar cholangiocarcinoma		
Breast invasive carcinoma, NOS	Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma	Pleural mesothelioma, biphasic type		
Renal clear cell carcinoma	Breast invasive lobular carcinoma	Pleural mesothelioma, epithelioid type		
Cervical endometrioid carcinoma	Breast invasive mixed mucinous carcinoma	Pleural mesothelioma, sarcomatoid type		
Mucinous carcinoma	Intestinal type stomach adenocarcinoma	Prostate adenocarcinoma		
Cervical squamous cell carcinoma	Low-grade glioma, NOS	Papillary renal cell carcinoma		
Cholangiocarcinoma	Leiomyosarcoma	Papillary stomach adenocarcinoma		
Chromophobe renal cell carcinoma	Lung adenocarcinoma	Rectum adenocarcinoma		
Colon adenocarcinoma	Lung squamous cell carcinoma	Seminoma		
Dedifferentiated liposarcoma	Mucinous adenocarcinoma of the colon and rectum	Skin cutaneous melanoma		
Desmoid/aggressive fibromatosis	Metaplastic breast cancer	Serous ovarian cancer		
Diffuse glioma	Undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma/malignant fibrous	Signet ring cell carcinoma of the stomach		
Diffuse large b-cell lymphoma, NOS	histiocytoma/high-grade spindle cell sarcoma	Stomach adenocarcinoma		
Diffuse type stomach adenocarcinoma	Myxofibrosarcoma	Synovial sarcoma		
Endocervical adenocarcinoma	Mixed germ cell tumor	Papillary thyroid cancer		
Embryonal carcinoma	Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor	Thymoma		
Esophageal carcinoma	Mucinous stomach adenocarcinoma	Tubular stomach adenocarcinoma		
Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma	Oligoastrocytoma	Teratoma		
Fibrolamellar carcinoma	Oligodendroglioma	Uterine carcinosarcoma		

В



Gene A	Gene B	Neither	A Not B	B Not A	Both	Log2 Odds Ratio	Р	FDR q
ELANE	PRTN3	9973	42	21	155	>3	<0.001	<0.001
PRTN3	PRSS57	9965	41	50	135	>3	<0.001	<0.001
ELANE	PRSS57	9945	61	49	136	>3	<0.001	<0.001
CTSC	CTSG	9831	216	132	12	2.049	<0.001	<0.001
CTSC	PRSS57	9791	215	172	13	1.783	<0.001	<0.001





#### *P* < 10<sup>-10</sup>

- Adrenocorfical carcinoma Acute myeloid leukemia Bladder urothelial carcinoma Invasive breast carcinoma Breast invasive carcinoma, NOS Renal clear cell carcinoma Cervical endometrioid carcinoma Mucinous carcinoma
- Cervical squamous cell carcinoma
- Cholangiocarcinoma Chromophobe renal cell carcinoma
- Colon adenocarcinoma Dedifferentiated liposarcoma
- Desmoid/aggressive fibromatosis Diffuse glioma
- Diffuse large b-cell lymphoma, NOS
- Diffuse type stomach adenocarcinoma Endocervical adenocarcinoma
- Embryonal carcinoma
- Esophageal carcinoma
- Esophageal squamous cell carcinoma Fibrolamellar carcinoma

- Glioblastoma multiforme
- Hepatocellular carcinoma
- Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma Breast invasive ductal carcinoma
- Intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma
- Breast invasive lobular carcinoma
- Breast invasive mixed mucinous carcinoma
- Intestinal type stomach adenocarcinoma
- Low-grade glioma, NOS
- Leiomyosarcoma Lung adenocarcinoma
- Lung squamous cell carcinoma Mucinous adenocarcinoma of the colon and rectum
- Metaplastic breast cancer
- Undifferentiated pleomorphic sarcoma/malignant fibrous histiocytoma/high-grade spindle cell sarcoma
- Myxofibrosarcoma Mixed germen cell tumor
- Malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumor
- Mucinous stomach adenocarcinoma
- Oligoastrocytoma
- Oligodendroglioma

- Pancreatic adenocarcinoma
- Paraganglioma Pheochromocytoma
- Perihilar cholangiocarcinoma
- Pleural mesothelioma, biphasic type Pleural mesothelioma, epithelioid type Pleural mesothelioma, sarcomatoid type Prostate adenocarcinoma

- Papillary renal cell carcinoma
- Papillary stomach adenocarcinoma Rectum adenocarcinoma
- Seminoma Skin cutaneous melanoma
- Serous ovarian cancer
- Signet ring cell carcinoma of the stomach Stomach adenocarcinoma
- Synovial sarcoma Papillary thyroid cancer
- Thymoma
- Tubular stomach adenocarcinoma
- Teratoma Uterine carcinosarcoma









![](_page_46_Picture_0.jpeg)

![](_page_47_Figure_0.jpeg)

![](_page_47_Figure_1.jpeg)

![](_page_47_Figure_2.jpeg)

![](_page_48_Picture_0.jpeg)

#targetingcancerpromotinginflammation

![](_page_49_Figure_0.jpeg)